TGEGKXGF. "41514236"38<55<69. "Iqj p"C0"Vqo culpq. "Engtm"Uwrtgo g"Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC13-1958

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

Vs.

MICHAEL PEREZ,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT

AMENDED BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General

JOANNE DIEZ Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 276110

LINDA S. KATZ Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0672378

RICHARD L. POLIN Florida Bar No. 0230987 Bureau Chief, Criminal Appeals Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite 650 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-5441 (305) 377-5655 (fax)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Perez was convicted of second degree murder with a firearm and unlawful possession of a firearm (counts one and two). On April 15, 1999, Perez shot and killed Jimmy Ramirez. Ramirez was unarmed and riding a bicycle in the area of Northwest 34th Street in Miami, Florida. On April 16, 1999, Perez met with the City of Miami Police to discuss the incident. He provided a sworn statement to the detectives. In his sworn statement, Perez admitted that he shot Ramirez.

Perez stated that he saw the victim on a bicycle as he walked toward 27th Avenue. Ramirez was approximately five feet away from him at the time. Perez initially denied shooting the victim. Ultimately, Perez claimed he shot him in self defense. Perez also admitted that he threw the gun away and that after the shooting he shaved his head so that his hair style was altered from the original style of braids to having a shaved head. Additionally, there was an independent eyewitness to the shooting, Carlos Hernandez. Hernandez, who was a friend of Perez, had

known him for about five years. Hernandez gave a sworn statement to the police testifying that he saw Perez shoot Ramirez. Hernandez stated that he did not see the victim with any kind of firearm or weapon when he was killed. Perez was subsequently arrested.

A motion to suppress Perez's confession to the police was filed on September 18, 2000. Perez argued that his statements had not been voluntary and that his Fifth Amendment rights had been violated. (State Response to Motion to Suppress was filed December 8, 2000. (I. 194). Subsequent to an evidentiary hearing on the motion to suppress, the motion was denied. On December 8, 2000, Perez was evaluated by Dr. Sanford Jacobson to determine his competency to waive his Miranda rights. On December 11, 2000, Dr. Jacobson submitted his results to Judge Peter Lopez in a leter dated December 11, 2000 (I. 43). Perez told Dr. Jacobson that he shot the victim because he thought the victim was going to shoot him. (I. 44). On December 12, 2000, Perez pled guilty to the lesser charge of second degree murder with a firearm, having originally been indicted for first degree murder.

On September 1, 2009, Perez filed a motion for post-conviction relief pursuant to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.850 (b)(1).(I. 55). In his motion, the Perez argued that he had newly discovered evidence that exonerated him and that he did not murder the victim. Perez claimed that he suffered a

manifest injustice because he entered a guilty plea without "knowing that Delarosa and Montanez" were witnesses. Perez argued that the newly discovered evidence was in the form of sworn affidavits from witnesses Javier Delarosa and Albert Montanez. (The affidavits are actually letters). As part of his manifest injustice claim, Perez argued that the State proceeded under "circumstantial assumption that he alone shot and killed Ramirez."

Perez claimed that he should be allowed to withdraw his guilty plea based on this newly discovered evidence. According to Perez's argument, these were previously unknown witnesses to the murder. According to Delarosa's letter, he saw Ramirez killed in a drive by shooting and he claims to have seen an individual known as "Fat Steve" driving the car in the shooting. (I. 77). Delarosa claimed that he saw the entire shooting. He states in his letter that he witnessed a gray/offwhite four door car drive up slowly and then when the driver's side and driver's side back-seat windows went down, guns came out and the victim was shot several times. Delarosa stated that he saw "Fat Steve" behind the wheel driving the car. Delarosa alleges that he saw Albert, Jose, Gonzalo, Perez, and Carlos run in different directions when the shooting occurred. Additionally, he notes that he heard Carlos Hernandez tell the police that a grey car had shot the victim. Delarosa claims that he found out that Hernandez later changed his story after Fat Steve had threatened him if he did not blame the murder on Perez. Finally, Delarosa notes

that he is writing the letter now, years later, because he learned that Fat Steve is dead.

Montanez provided a letter on August 10, 2009. (I. 74). Montanez stated that he was with Carlos, Gonzalo, and Jose the day of the shooting. He saw an off-white car drive by and shoot Jimmy. Montanez also stated that the day after the Ramirez shooting, he witnessed "Fat Steve" drive up to Perez on the street, point a gun at Perez, and order him inside the car. (page 1).

Perez goes on to state that had he gone to a jury trial, he would have testified truthfully in his own behalf that he was present at the home of Carlos Hernandez when "he heard gunshots" the day of the incident. Perez claimed that after he looked up, he observed Fat Steve's car and the victim, Ramirez, on a bicycle. Perez argued that he would have testified that he saw the occupants of Fat Steve's car shoot Ramirez again. On April 20, 2010, the post-conviction motion from September 1, 2009, was denied, without prejudice, as facially insufficient.(I. 228) In his order denying the subject motion, Judge David Miller noted that the motion was facially insufficient because the defendant failed to meet the requirements of Rule 3.851(e)(2)(C), and cited to *Davis v. State*, 26 So.3d 519 (Fla. 2009).

The order denying the motion was then appealed to the Third District Court of Appeal, Case No.3D10-1370. On July 7, 2010, the Third District issued an opinion reversing the order of denial. The opinion noted that the trial court denied

the motion as facially insufficient for failure to meet the requirements of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(e)(2)(C). The opinion pointed out that Rule 3.851 applies to capital cases in which the defendant has been sentenced to death and whose conviction and death sentence have been affirmed on direct appeal. As Perez was sentenced to forty years, and not sentenced to death, his post-conviction motion filed pursuant to rule 3.850 was proper. Thus, the Third District reversed the trial court's order and remanded the matter for the trial court to determine the merits of the appellant's motion under rule 3.850. *Perez v. State* 40 So.3d 822 (Fla. 3d DCA 2010).

On August 16, 2011, the State filed a response to the Motion for Post Conviction Relief. (I. 110). On September 20, 2011, Perez, via his private attorney, filed a reply to the State's Response. (I.95). On September 28, 2011, the State filed a Supplemental Response to the Defendant's motion. (I. 88). On October 12, 2011, the State filed a second Supplemental Response to Defendant's motion, and stated that the second response "addressed questions that "arose during the oral argument." (I.82).

On November 15, 2011, the trial court entered an order denying Perez's motion for post conviction relief. (I.380). In the order, Judge Arzola stated that Rule 3.850 is very explicit and specific in its definition of what constitutes newly discovered evidence stating that "the facts on which the claim is predicated were

unknown to the movant or the movant's attorney and could not have been ascertained by the exercise of due diligence." The trial court pointed out that what Perez was submitting as newly discovered evidence, i.e., Mr. Delarosa and Mr. Montanez's claims regarding the facts surrounding Ramirez's shooting, merely corroborated facts that Perez claimed he already knew. Furthermore, as Perez's sworn allegations in his motion attest that prior to his plea he personally knew of the information he now claims as newly discovered evidence, such cannot, in fact, constitute newly discovered evidence.

Judge Arzola's order went on to explain that, even if the information submitted did qualify as newly discovered evidence, Perez was still not entitled to relief because he had failed to meet his burden of establishing that vacating his guilty plea was necessary to prevent a manifest injustice. The trial court noted that Perez had confessed to the police that he shot Ramirez. (Attached to Judge Arzola's order was the sworn statement given by Perez to the Miami Police on April 16, 1999. (I.12). Additionally, Perez again confessed to killing Ramirez during his evaluation with Dr. Sanford Jacobson. (Attached to Judge Arzola's order was Dr. Jacobson's letter to the court. (I.43). The trial court noted that the independent witness, Carlos Hernandez, swore in his statement that he saw Perez shoot the victim. Judge Arzola's order found that as the motion, court file, and records conclusively refuted the claimed basis for relief, no evidentiary hearing

was warranted. (Documents including Carlos Hernandez's sworn statement, given on April 21, 1999, were attached to the order. (I.206). This order was then the basis for the appeal in case no. 3D11-3250, the subject case. (I.269).

The Office of the Attorney General, on behalf of the State of Florida, filed a Response below. The Third District issued an opinion on November 21, 2012. (I.294). The lower court reversed the trial court's order and remanded for an evidentiary hearing to determine if Perez was entitled to withdraw his plea due to manifest injustice. The lower court's opinion cited to the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeal case of *United States v. Quintana*, 300 F.3d 1227, 1232 (11th Cir. 2002) to explain that, in order to demonstrate manifest injustice, a petitioner must demonstrate (1) that there was error; (2) that was plain; (3) that affected his substantial rights; and (4) that affected the fundamental fairness of the proceedings." The opinion went on to remand for an evidentiary hearing on the issue of manifest injustice.

On December 12, 2012, the State filed a Motion for Rehearing and a Motion for Rehearing En Banc and certified question arguing that the lower court's opinion, when analyzing whether or not manifest injustice existed in the case at bar, borrowed from *Quintana's* definition of manifest injustice. (I. 304). However, that definition is not the correct definition to apply to a collateral review claim of newly discovered evidence after a guilty or nolo contendere plea. As opposed to

the subject case, which involved a collateral attack on a guilty plea, *Quintana* involved a direct appeal test and not a plain error test for newly discovered evidence after a guilty plea without trial. *Quintana* addressed the concept of manifest injustice for the purpose of determining whether an error could be raised on direct appeal when it had not been preserved; it does not apply to post-conviction collateral review challenges, let alone after a guilty plea.

On July 31, 2013, the lower court issued an opinion held on rehearing. *Perez v. State*, 118 So.3d 298 (Fla. 3d DCA 2013). (I. 460). The lower court held that Perez was entitled to an evidentiary hearing in order to make a credibility determination on the newly discovered testimonial evidence of Delarosa and Montanez and Perez's ability to prove that a manifest injustice occurred. *Id.* Accordingly, the lower court held that the trial court erred in summarily denying the subject motion, reversed the denial, and remanded the matter for an evidentiary hearing on manifest injustice. In its opinion, the lower court acknowledged that the standard in Florida for a newly discovered evidence claim was more liberal than the standard for raising an actual innocence claim in federal court as per *Tompkins v. State*, 994 So.2d 1072 (Fla. 2008).

On August 12, 2013, the State filed a Motion for certification of a question of great public importance, namely: "How should manifest injustice be defined for purposes of a claim of newly discovered evidence after a guilty plea?" (I. 467). On

September 18, 2013, the Third District granted the certification of the question. (I. 476). On October 3, 2013, the State filed a notice to invoke discretionary review to the Florida Supreme Court. On November 12, 2013, the Court accepted jurisdiction of this matter.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

While this Court has enunciated the test for claims of newly discovered evidence in the aftermath of a trial, Jones v. State, 591 So.2d 911 (Fla. 1991), Florida's district courts of appeal have consistently recognized that the test is inappropriate in the aftermath of either a guilty plea or a plea of nolo contendere. Rather, the district courts of appeal have required that a defendant, in the aftermath of a guilty or nolo contendere plea, establish "manifest injustice." That test recognizes that there should be a higher burden on defendants after having pled guilty or nolo contendere. That result ensues for at least two reasons: first, the absence of a trial transcript precludes the type of analysis that courts would engage in under *Jones*. Second, when there are guilty pleas, the defendant has actually admitted guilt through a knowing, voluntary and intelligent plea. It is therefore both proper and necessary to impose a higher burden for claims of newly discovered evidence after guilty pleas.

While the manifest injustice standard relied upon in the district courts of appeal purports to implement such a higher standard, the district courts of appeal

have never attempted to define what constitutes a "manifest injustice." In the absence of a definition, the manifest injustice standard remains highly subjective, and will likely result in differential treatment by different courts and judges throughout the State.

The instant case certifies the question of how "manifest injustice" should be defined for the purpose of a claim of newly discovered after a guilty plea. It is the position of the State that a definition is needed, that it must be objective and capable of application in a consistent manner in different cases, that it must succeed in eliminating the subjectivity that is inherent in the use of the phrase without such a definition, and that it must impose a high burden on a defendant, in light of the fact that the guilty plea carries with it an admission of guilt, and in light of the problems that will otherwise ensue when such claims are raised many years after the offenses and pleas, where records of evidence do not exist, and where witnesses and evidence become increasingly difficult to obtain.

The State argued in the lower court, and argues herein, that the concept of "manifest injustice," which is also referred to as "actual innocence," in federal court post-conviction proceedings, satisfies all of the purposes outlined above, and

that the standard should be utilized in claims of newly discovered evidence in the aftermath of guilty pleas.¹

STANDARD OF REVIEW

As a trial court's decision on whether or not to grant an evidentiary hearing on a motion for postconviction relief is based on written materials before the court, its ruling is treated as a pure question of law, which is subject to de novo review. *Hunter v. State*, 29 So.3d 256, 261 (Fla. 2008).

ARGUMENT

POST CONVICTION CLAIM OF DISCOVERED EVIDENCE IS NOT COGNIZABLE IN THE AFTERMATH OF A GULTY PLEA, BUT **COURT REJECTS** THE THE STATE'S ARGUMENT THAT DEFENDANT WAIVED THE CLAIM OF NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE **ENTERING GUILTY** PLEA. **DEFENDANT SHOULD** BE **REQUIRED** TO ESTABLISH MANIFEST INJUSTICE PURSUANT TO THE DEFINITION UNDER FEDERAL LAW, WHICH REQUIRES A DEMONSTRATION OF **ACTUAL** INNOCENCE **BASED** ON NEW. RELIABLE EVIDENCE.

A. General Principles of Florida Law.

¹This Court has never addressed whether a claim of newly discovered evidence can be raised in a 3.850 motion after a guilty plea. As will be discussed in the ensuing argument, several jurisdictions will not even permit such claims to be raised after a knowing, voluntary and intelligent guilty plea.

The standard test for newly discovered evidence was enunciated by this Court, in *Jones v. State*, 591 So.2d 911, 915 (Fla. 1991), in the context of a case where the defendant had gone to trial and been found guilty. In that context, this Court held:

That henceforth, in order to provide relief, the newly discovered evidence must be of such nature that it would *probably* produce an acquittal on retrial.

591 So.2d at 915. In so holding, this Court rejected the standard that had been used when evaluating petitions for writs of error coram nobis, where the petitioner had the burden of demonstrating that "the alleged facts must be of such a vital nature that had they been known to the trial court, they *conclusively* would have prevented the entry of the judgment." *Jones*, 591 So.2d at 915, quoting *Hallman v. State*, 371 So.2d 482, 485 (Fla. 1979).

The Fourth District Court of Appeal, in *Scott v. State*, 629 So.2d 888 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), recognized that the test enunciated in *Jones* could not be applied where a defendant entered a plea of nolo contendere:

Application of this standard involves examining the evidence produced at trial and comparing it with the "newly discovered evidence" to determine whether the "newly discovered evidence" would "probably produce an acquittal on retrial." *Id.* at 916. Because appellant pled nolo contendere in this case, there was no trial and no evidence introduced. Consequently, it is problematic to apply the *Jones* standard here.

A more appropriate standard in this case would be the standard for withdrawal of pleas *after* sentencing. In *Williams v. State*, 316 So.2d 267 (Fla. 1975), the supreme court recognized that while the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure provide guidelines for withdrawing a plea *before* sentencing, there is no rule setting forth requirements for the withdrawal of a plea *after* sentencing. The supreme court in *Williams* adopted the standards enunciated by the American Bar Association for a plea withdrawal after sentence, holding that a defendant should be allowed to withdraw a guilty or nolo contendere plea when the defendant proves the withdrawal is necessary to correct a manifest injustice. *Id.* at 273. The burden to prove a manifest injustice is placed on the defendant.

629 So.2d at 890. The Fourth District, however, did not undertake to define "manifest injustice."

Subsequently, Florida's other district courts of appeal have consistently relied upon the manifest injustice standard of *Scott* when dealing with claims of newly discovered evidence where the defendant entered a plea instead of going to trial. *See Miller v. State*, 814 So.2d 1131 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002), *McFarland v. State*, 929 So. 2d 549 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006); *Perez v. State*, 118 So.3d 298 (Fla. 3d DCA 2013); *Johnson v. State*, 936 So.2d 1196 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006); *Daniel v. State*, 740 So.2d 1179 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999).

Scott relied upon the manifest injustice standard from this Court's prior opinion in Williams v. State, 316 So.2d 267 (Fla. 1975), where this Court held that after a guilty plea and sentence, the standard for withdrawing the plea was "manifest injustice." However, Williams did not involve a claim of newly

discovered evidence; the claim was that the trial court did not comply with the rules for establishing a factual basis for the guilty plea on the record. While finding that no such manifest injustice existed, this Court, in *Williams*, similarly did not attempt to provide a general definition of "manifest injustice." While *Scott* first applied the test to a newly discovered evidence claim after a nolo contendere plea, the instant case involves a guilty plea. The existence of a guilty plea, where there has been a knowing, voluntary and intelligent guilty plea, provides even more compelling justifications for the need for a stringent, well-definable burden on the defendant. As this Court noted in *Williams*, "[a] plea of guilty is both a confession and a conviction. "316 So.2d at 270-271. ²

_

It should be noted that there was another separate confession, aside from the confession to the police, and the guilty plea. Perez confessed to Dr. Jacobson, who had been appointed by the court to perform a psychiatric evaluation regarding Perez's competency to waive his Miranda rights. Dr. Jacobson determined that Perez was able to exercise a knowing and intelligent waiver of his Miranda rights. (page 4 of Dr. Jacobson's report). Under the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.211(e), a court appointed evaluation will not be allowed for any purpose other than the determination of the defendant's competency, as it would violate the confidentiality protection extended by 3.211(e). *Caraballo v. State*, 39 So.3d 1234, 1250 (Fla. 2010). The State of Florida recognizes that the confession made to Dr. Jacobson raises questions as to the scope and permissibility of using such confession as it would violate the confidentiality protection under the rule. The confession is mentioned here as an acknowledgement of what was in the record.

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