IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC13-1958 L.T. CASE NOS. 3D11-3250, 99-15105

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

MICHAEL PEREZ,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Discretionary Review from a Decision of the Third District Court of Appeal

CARLTON FIELDS JORDEN BURT, P.A. 1000 Corporate Center Three

4221 West Boy Scout Boulevard Tampa, Florida 33607 Telephone: (813) 223-7000 Facsimile: (813) 229-4133 4200 Miami Tower 100 Southeast Second Street Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: (305) 530-0050 Facsimile: (305) 530-0055

By: Gary L. Sasso Steven M. Blickensderfer Pro-Bono Counsel for Respondent

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

1005, 1013 (N.H. 2008); Boag v. State, 605 P.2d 304, 305 (Or. Ct. App. 1980); Newsome v. State, 995 S.W.2d 129, 134 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1998); In re Investigation of W. Va. State Police Crime Lab., Serology Div., 438 S.E.2d 501, 507 (W. Va. 1993). Hawaii, New Mexico, South Dakota, and Vermont do not appear to have cases one way or the other.

¹³ See Ex parte Heaton, 542 So. 2d 931, 933 (Ala. 1989); State v. Fritz, 755 P.2d 444, 445 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1988); People v. Schneider, 25 P.3d 755, 762 (Colo. 2001); State v. Young, 2003 WL 1847262, at *2 (Del. Super Ct. Apr. 9, 2003) (unpublished); Britten v. State, 328 S.E.2d 556, 557 (Ga. Ct. App. 1985); Zepeda v. State, 274 P.3d 11, 17 (Idaho Ct. App. 2012); Saiki v. State, 375 N.W.2d 547, 549 (Minn. Ct. App. 1985); Sykes v. State, 919 So. 2d 1064, 1066 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005); Moore v. State, 734 N.W.2d 336, 339 (N.D. 2007); Commonwealth v. Peoples, 319 A.2d 679, 681 (Pa. 1974); Reise v. State, 913 A.2d 1052, 1056 (R.I. 2007); State v. Krieger, 471 N.W.2d 599, 604 (Wis. Ct. App. 1991), cited with approval by State v. Taylor, 829 N.W.2d 482, 497 n.17 (Wis. 2013).

At least one of these states, Colorado, recognizes the differences between plea and trial cases, like Florida, and has modified its newly discovered evidence test in plea cases as a result. *See Schneider*, 25 P.3d at 762.

plea withdrawal; the existence of a plea bargain; and any prejudice to the state. See State v. Slater, 966 A.2d 461, 468 (N.J. 2009). In Massachusetts, the likelihood of success is whether the newly discovered evidence "casts real doubt on the justice of the conviction." *Commonwealth v. Ivey*, 817 N.E.2d 340 (Mass. App. Ct. 2004) (unpublished) (quotation omitted). And in Maryland and Washington, D.C., the issue is governed by statute. *See* Md. Code § 8-301; D.C. Code § 22-4135(i). The Maryland statute grants relief if the new evidence creates a "substantial or significant possibility that the result may have been different" with the new evidence. § 8-301(a)(1). The D.C. statute provides that if the evidence shows that it is more likely than not the defendant is actually innocent, the defendant is entitled to withdraw the plea, § 22-4135(g)(2). If the evidence is clear and convincing, the conviction is vacated with prejudice. § 22-4135(g)(3).

Only a small minority of states (six) apply something similar to the State's proposed standard, requiring the defendant to show clear and convincing evidence sufficient to establish that no reasonable juror would find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.¹⁴ These states either have post-conviction procedures dissimilar to Rule 3.850, or adhere to the traditional use of the writ for habeas

¹⁴ See Miller v. Comm'r of Corr., 700 A.2d 1108, 1130-31 (Conn. 1997); State v. Green, 153 P.3d 1216, 1226 (Kan. 2007); State ex rel. Nixon v. Sheffield, 272 S.W.3d 277, 284 (Mo. Ct. App. 2008); State v. Graham, 57 P.3d 54, 57 (Mont. 2002); Ex parte Tuley, 109 S.W.3d 388, 392-93 (Tex. Crim. App. 2002); Medel v. State, 184 P.3d 1226, 1237-38 (Utah 2008).

corpus. Accordingly, they have aligned themselves with one or both of the federal actual innocence standards, discussed and distinguished *infra* at pages 34-37.

Thus, Florida's approach to handling newly discovered evidence claims of actual innocence in plea cases is consistent with the approach taken by most states that recognize such claims. While no clear consensus exists regarding whether the evidence should demonstrate that an acquittal is reasonably possible, as opposed to probable, the threshold in Florida should be materiality or reasonable possibility given the absence of a fully developed trial record. Without such a record, assessing the actual probability of acquittal after a full trial may be elusive. Further, the manifest injustice standard has its roots in the Florida standard for harmless error, *see Williams*, 316 So. 2d at 274, which in turn involves an assessment of whether there is a reasonable possibility—not probability—that the error in question affected the outcome. *See State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986).

It must also be remembered that, in the context of a plea, the fundamental issue is whether the defendant suffered clear prejudice in reaching his or her decision to enter the plea. This entails consideration of whether the defendant was materially misinformed at the time the defendant made the plea about his or her prospects for an acquittal, or whether the defendant pleaded under duress or coercion. As the following case illustrates, credible evidence of actual innocence that materially improves the prospects of an acquittal may satisfy this inquiry.

In People v. Knight, 937 N.E.2d 789 (Ill. App. Ct. 2010), appeal den'd, 943 N.E.2d 1105 (Ill. 2011), a factually similar case, the defendant filed a successive post-conviction motion seeking relief from his plea based on newly discovered evidence of actual innocence. Specifically, the new evidence showed that the defendant pleaded guilty to a murder while in prison because a gang instructed him to take responsibility for the crime. Id. at 768-69. Like the instant case, the defendant and others came forward only after the gang leader died and the gang no longer controlled the prison. Id. at 770. Reversing the trial court's summary denial, the Illinois appellate court reasoned that the change in the prison dynamic following the gang leader's death by way of the cessation of the gang leader's threat over the defendant and other witnesses, who could now come forward and tell the truth, had a material bearing on whether the defendant's plea was coerced The appellate court explained that, at the and involuntary. Id. at 773-74. evidentiary hearing following remand, the defendant's success on the motion would hinge on the credibility of the newly discovered evidence of actual innocence. Id. at 774.

Accordingly, as this case and the majority approach illustrate, the manifest injustice standard is satisfied when the newly discovered evidence of actual innocence would have a material bearing on the outcome of trial and thus on the defendant's decision to plead guilty, or when the new evidence proves the plea was involuntary. Sometimes, as in this case, the newly discovered evidence of actual innocence satisfies both conditions. If this threshold is met, then the defendant is entitled to withdraw the plea "and to plead anew." *Taylor*, 662 So. 2d at 1032-33.

3. Policy Favors This Standard

This standard also strikes the proper balance between finality and fairness. By necessity and design of our criminal justice system, a significant portion of crimes—approximately 91 percent—are resolved by a plea. *See* ABA Standards for Criminal Justice, Pleas of Guilty, at xi–xii (3d ed. 1999); *see also Macker v. State*, 500 So. 2d 256, 259 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986). A plea waives several fundamental constitutional rights, including the right to a jury trial, the privilege against compulsory self-incrimination, the right to confront one's accusers and present witnesses, and the right to have the State prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt. *See Boykin*, 395 U.S. at 243; *United States v. Gines*, 964 F. 2d 972, 980 (10th Cir. 1992); *State v. Partlow*, 840 So. 2d 1040, 1045 (Fla. 2003) (Cantero, J., concurring); *Macker*, 500 So. 2d at 258.

While the system is designed to ensure that every conviction based on a plea is fair and just, "there always exists the possibility of a defendant who in fact is entitled to relief, . . . including the possibility of actual innocence or credible newly discovered evidence that sheds doubt on the validity of the conviction." *In re Amends. to Fla. R. Crim. P.*, 38 Fla. L. Weekly S247, S250 (Fla. Apr., 18, 2013) (Pariente, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part). In that situation, the law favors a trial on the merits. *See Ward v. State*, 22 So. 2d 887, 889 (Fla. 1945).

II. PEREZ IS ENTITLED TO AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING TO DEMONSTRATE THAT THE WITHDRAWAL OF HIS PLEA IS NECESSARY TO CORRECT A MANIFEST INJUSTICE

Applying the above manifest injustice framework to this case, the Third District aptly recognized that Perez stated a facially sufficient claim to withdraw his plea and thus is entitled to an evidentiary hearing. Perez's newly discovered evidence, in the form of Delarosa's and Montanez's previously unknown eyewitness testimony, as well as Fat Steve's death and prior role in the murder and in suppressing Perez's ability to tell the truth, is compelling evidence of Perez's actual innocence such that it could reasonably be expected to have a decisive impact on his decision to plead guilty.

A. Standard of Review – Factual Allegations Accepted as True

Because the trial court summarily denied Perez's Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion, this Court "must accept the defendant's factual allegations to the extent they are not refuted by the record." *Peede v. State*, 748 So. 2d 253, 257 (Fla. 1999); *see also Franqui v. State*, 59 So. 3d 82, 95 (Fla. 2011). The same is true of the allegations in Delarosa's and Montanez's affidavits. *See McLin v. State*, 827 So. 2d 948, 955 (Fla. 2002).

B. Delarosa's and Montanez's Affidavits Constitute Newly Discovered Evidence and Are Not Conclusively Refuted by the Record

The Third District properly concluded that Delarosa's and Montanez's previously unknown eyewitness accounts constitute newly discovered evidence pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850(b)(1).

Newly discovered evidence is evidence that was unknown by the trial court, by the party, or by counsel at the time of trial. *See Wyatt v. State*, 71 So. 3d 86, 100 (Fla. 2011); *see also Jones v. State*, 709 So. 2d 512, 521 (Fla. 1998) (explaining newly discovered evidence criteria, as discussed *supra* at page 16). Previously unknown eyewitness testimony is a common example of newly discovered evidence. *See, e.g., Goodman v. State*, 845 So. 2d 253, 254 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003); *Clugston v. State*, 765 So.2d 816, 818 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000). Unless "inherently incredible," an evidentiary hearing is required to determine whether the new evidence is credible. *See McLin*, 827 So. 2d at 955-56.

In its brief, the State does not challenge the Third District's conclusion that the evidence is newly discovered. Nor could it challenge whether Perez acted diligently upon discovering it given that Delarosa and Montanez came forward only after Fat Steve's recent death. *Cf. Davis v. State*, 26 So. 3d 519, 528 (Fla. 2009) ("Logically, even if counsel had or could have located these witnesses at an earlier date such earlier date does not conclusively establish that the witnesses would have recanted their testimony at that earlier time."). Rather, the State argues the record evidence refutes Perez's allegations and Delarosa's and Montanez's eyewitness testimony. (I.B. at 34). The State identifies two pieces of evidence that ostensibly refute their claims: (1) Hernandez's sworn statement; and (2) Perez's confession. Both fail in that regard.

1. Hernandez's Sworn Statement Does Not Refute the New Allegations

In relying on Hernandez's sworn statement, the State completely ignores the fact that Hernandez's *initial* account of the shooting to investigators described a drive-by shooting consistent with that described in Delarosa's and Montanez's affidavits. Moreover, Hernandez never explained why he changed his story to inculpate Perez several days later. Delarosa, on the other hand, explained that Hernandez changed his account of the shooting after Fat Steve threatened him to do so. Additionally, at some point after he changed his story, Hernandez refused to testify or to cooperate further with the authorities. Rather than refute Perez's allegations, Hernandez's statement and the circumstances surrounding it actually corroborate Perez's motion and the newly discovered evidence.

2. Perez's Coerced Confession Does Not Conclusively Refute His Allegations Because He Falsely Confessed under Duress

As for Perez's dubious confession, the State completely ignores Perez's allegation that he falsely confessed under duress. The State appears to presume that false confessions do not occur. The State cannot be more wrong.

Recent studies have shown that in cases overturned by DNA evidence, 25 percent involved false confessions. *See* The Florida Innocence Commission, *Final Report To The Supreme Court Of Florida*, at 27 (June 2012) (available at http://www.flcourts.org/core/fileparse.php/248/urlt/finalreport2012.rtf). Consistent with that figure, three of the 11 exonerations in Florida examined by the Commission in 2011 involved false confessions. *Id.* at 27.¹⁵

There are several reasons why an innocent person confesses to a crime he or she did not commit: intimidation by law enforcement officers during the interrogation; use of devious interrogation techniques, such as untrue statements about incriminating evidence; factors affecting the reasoning ability of the suspect, such as mental limitations and limited education; or the suspect's fear. *See* Innocence Project, *False Confessions & Recording Of Custodial Interrogations Fact Sheet*, http://www.innocenceproject.org/Content/False_Confessions___ Recording_Of_Custodial_Interrogations.php (last visited Mar. 6, 2014). As noted by the Florida Innocence Commission, "some categories of people, such as juveniles and mentally incapacitated individuals, are especially susceptible to making a false confession." *Final Report* at 26.

¹⁵ The vast majority of criminal cases do not involve biological evidence (80–90%), and thus are predicated on, as here, newly discovered evidence. See Daniel S. Medwed, Up The River Without A Procedure: Innocent Prisoners And Newly Discovered Non-DNA Evidence In State Courts, 47 ARIZ. L. REV. 655, 656 (2005).

Virtually all of those factors are present here. Perez was a juvenile at the time of his confession and had a low IQ exhibiting a "borderline intellectual functioning." (R. 44-45, 130). Despite these educational and mental limitations, three to four investigators questioned Perez for nearly four hours, even though Perez insisted for the first two to three hours that he was innocent. (R. 44-45, 139-40, 191). He asked for legal counsel, yet his interrogators told him that was unnecessary. (R. 44-45). He repeatedly asked to have family members present, and he was told the police could not locate any. (R. 186). The recording made of the interrogation and confession upon which the State relied below in claiming the interrogation was proper represents only the last hour of the protracted session, after investigators had already induced Perez into admitting he committed the crime. (R. 163, 191). There is no transcript of the first two to three hours, when Perez insisted he was innocent. Even then, the self-serving transcript shows that investigators continued to interrogate Perez despite his request to have family members present. As part of their interrogation tactics, investigators screamed at Perez and cajoled him into believing it was in his best interest to proceed without a lawyer present. (R. 44-45).

Of course, this whole time, Perez was operating under threats made by Fat Steve, who said he would kill Perez and his sister if he revealed the truth. That fear receded only recently when Perez learned Fat Steve had been killed. Similar to the change in the prison dynamics in *Knight*, 937 N.E.2d 789, Fat Steve's death

freed up Perez and the other previously unidentified exculpatory eyewitnesses to come forward and explain what really happened.

C. The Newly Discovered Evidence Could Reasonably Be Expected To Have a Decisive Impact on Perez's Decision To Plead Guilty Because of Its Exculpatory Power

Had Perez gone to trial instead of pleading guilty, knowing he would not have been able to testify truthfully about what he actually saw and with no knowledge of other exculpatory witnesses, he would not have been able to recant his confession credibly and effectively. Any defendant expecting to be impugned by a dubious confession, without knowledge of other exculpatory evidence and under the threat of violence, is going to take the plea.

But once Perez learned that the threat against his life became moot and other witnesses also felt free to step forward and inculpate Fat Steve, he could reasonably be expected to believe his chances of acquittal have changed materially and even dramatically. Thus, holding Perez to his plea entered under very different and untenable circumstances would be manifestly unjust and clearly prejudicial.

III. THIS COURT SHOULD REJECT THE STATE'S PROPOSED STANDARD, WHICH CONFLATES TWO DIFFERENT FEDERAL ACTUAL INNOCENCE STANDARDS, BECAUSE IT IS INAPPLICABLE TO STATE COURT PROCEEDINGS UNDER RULE 3.850 AND IGNORES *WILLIAMS*

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